Climate Change: Impacts on Carbon Sequestration, Biodiversity and Agriculture

Zulfiqar Ahmad and Shermeen Tahir

Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Difference Between Weather and Climate					
3	The Greenhouse Effect					
4	Greenhouse Gases					
5	Global Warming Potential of Greenhouse Gases					
6	Non-Greenhouse Influences of Climate					
7	Global Warming and Impacts on Future					
8	Soil Carbon Sequestration					
9	Impact of Global Warming on Carbon Sequestration					
10	Carbon Sequestration and Sustainability	409				
11	Soil Carbon Sequestration and Climate Change	409				
	11.1 Agricultural Chemicals	409				
	11.2 Essential Nutrients	410				
	11.3 Soil Degradation and Deposition	410				
	11.4 Better Farming Practices	410				
	11.5 Social Aspects	411				
	11.6 Water and Carbon Cycle	411				
	11.7 Global Warming and Soil Carbon Sequestration	411				
	11.8 Greenhouse Gases	411				
	11.9 Tropical Soils	412				
	11.10 Permanence	412				
12	Food Security and Soil Carbon Sequestration	412				
13	Climate Change and Biodiversity	413				
14	Impact of Climate Change on Biodiversity					
15	Response of Biodiversity to Climate Change	415				
	15.1 Mechanisms	415				
	15.2 Responses	415				
16	Climate Change Impact on Agriculture	417				
17	Impact of Climate Change on Fisheries 4					
18	Influence of Climate Change on Crop Productivity					
19	Climate Changing Trends in the World's Cropping Areas 41					
20	Response of Crops to Climate Change 41					

Z. Ahmad (🖂)

Institute of Soil and Environmental Sciences, University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faisalabad, Pakistan e-mail: zulfiqar1409@gmail.com

S. Tahir

Nuclear Institute for Agriculture and Biology (NIAB), Jhang Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

K.R. Hakeem et al. (eds.), *Soil Science: Agricultural and Environmental Prospectives*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-34451-5_18

21	Climate Change and Future Strategies for Agricultural Crops Production	420
22	Judicious Use and Improvement of Existing Resources and Technologies	421
23	Innovations in Crop Production.	422
References		

Abstract Climate change is a wider term and encompasses every aspect of biotic and abiotic life. Climate plays a very basic and significant role in the biology of living things. As a result the key factor amongst many to determine life in specific region thousands of years ago is the fact that various climate cycles existed at that place at that times. The recent decades have witnessed drastic changes in climate because of rise in atmospheric carbondioxide (CO_2) and ozone (O_3) levels leading to increase in temperature, melting of glaciers and rise in sea level. The ultimate trends that CO_2 and climate will constitute in the future are unknown. However, the researchers have been raising questions about carbon sequestration, food security, and crop productivity in the field of agriculture and extinction of species in the field of biodiversity. The term carbon sequestration implies the ways and means through which atmospheric carbon is transferred into the long lived pools and storing it safely in a way that it may not be re-emitted into the atmosphere. Anthropogenic activities, over a period of time have raised serious concerns to sequester carbon and lower down its concentration in the atmosphere, hence leading to drastic climate changes. Since it is not possible to cover all aspects of climate change, in this review we have emphasized on green house and non-green house aspects of climate change and their potential of global warming, implications on carbon sequestration sustainability and agriculture.

Keywords Climate change • Soil carbon sequestration • Sustainable agriculture • Global warming

1 Introduction

There are several signs of life on the earth even at the places life does not exist today. These signs are in the form of chalk or fossils. It is also important to note that the signs of life of different species found today are different from the species found today. This difference is due to evolution; however, the reason for the presence of one type of species at one place and absence at another place is the climate. Climate plays a very basic and significant role in the biology of living things. As a result the key factor amongst many to determine life in specific region thousands of years ago is the fact that various climate cycles existed at that place at that times (Cowie 2013; Hakeem 2015).

It is quite convenient to use this biological fact to study the climate. These biological remains are the imprints of past climate. Moreover, biology has a very significant influence on climate i.e. transpiration of rainforests can influence the flow of water in a catchment area, it means it can transform climate otherwise it would have been in the absence of living organisms. Looking from another angle, all living organisms have a certain optimum temperature range for their growth and development and flourish well in that range. Similarly, water requirement of all organisms are different for completing their life cycles and availability of water is controlled by the environment. Taking into account the connection of water and temperature with life, it is very easy to determine the habitats of different species and their ecosystems.

From this discussion if we can understand the significance of climate then it is imperative to understand the climate change for prediction of the fate of different species in different ecosystems. It is also possible to use reverse in an applied sense to record the past presence of various species and take it as an indicator of climate change. This is the very basic interrelationship between climate and life and affects all living things and we tend to shun the fact that every continent except Antarctica has signs of extinct civilizations and settlements which used to be the flourishing centers of the world which no more exist fundamentally because of the climate change.

If we assume that living things are not subject to climate change, there is sufficient evidence to prove the alteration of climate by global societies in a way which has deep global, biological, and regional implications that will impart profound impact on living things and create interactions between the two.

2 Difference Between Weather and Climate

To understand the biology of climate it is imperative to know about the climate and weather and differentiate between the two. We listen about climate and weather quite often however; there is a lot of confusion over the two terminologies. Every one of us checks the weather forecast for every planning and climate change is the news of the day. In simple words, climate is the forecast and weather is the outcome. Weather is what we see outside on any day of the year. For example it may be 40° C and sunny or 20° C and cloudy (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 2015). Climate is the average of that weather. For example one can expect heavy rains in the Northeast in July or it to be hot and humid in Southeast in July. The outcome is that the climate change is a long term phenomenon and weather is a change for short period of time.

There are many factors of climate and weather at a place however; major elements are temperature, pressure, wind, humidity and precipitation. The study and analysis of these factors provides the basis of weather and climate forecasting. These factors make the basis of climatology.

3 The Greenhouse Effect

The better understanding of the greenhouse effect may be obtained by considering that the Earth has no atmosphere. To understand this process we have to consider the information on the Moon surface. As we know the Moon surface is airless, its day time temperature is 117 °C and it drops to -173 °C at night rendering a median of -28 °C. During the day time its surface either absorbs the Sun light and warms the rocks or reflects off. On the other hand the Earth's surface average temperature is 15 °C, which is due to the fact that the Earth's surface keeps it low, otherwise it would be 43 °C. This is due to the greenhouse effect of the Earth. This warming effect is natural and existed always. This warming occurs because all the radiations coming from the Sun are not reflected by the Earth's surface of the Moon rocks trap them however, trapping of the radiations is more on the Earth's surface because its atmosphere is more transparent for the high wavelength radiations and opaque to the short wavelength radiations. Contrary to this rocks on the Moon surface are not transparent and only their surface warms, not strata in deep.

The reason of the reflection of some of the light back to the atmosphere is that for some of the light the atmosphere becomes transparent. These are mostly long wavelength radiations and are reflected back to the atmosphere while short wavelength radiations are trapped and cause the temperature to rise. Its function is similar to the glass of a greenhouse which allows the higher wavelength light in and traps some of the lower wavelength radiations; therefore this phenomenon is called greenhouse effect. That is the reason why the components of the atmosphere which show such properties are called greenhouse gases.

4 Greenhouse Gases

Many gases known as greenhouse gases occur naturally at various concentrations. These include water vapors (H₂O), methane (CH₄) nitrous oxide (N₂O) and CO₂. Other most important included in this category are chloloroflorocarbons (CFCs) which are artificial and are used as coolants or foam blowing. Carbon dioxide is the main gas whose concentration is increasing day by day due to human activities.

Tyndall (1861) recognized greenhouse gases and narrated their possible implications if their concentration changes in the atmosphere (Hulme 2009). He also speculated the possibilities of no warming effect if concentration of these gases decreased in the atmosphere. Consequently the Earth may face another ice age. However; this phenomenon is reverted due to increasing concentration of greenhouse gases which cause the warming effect. The main reason behind current global warming is the difference between natural greenhouse effect and the human generated effect (Cowie 2013). Today the atmosphere is changing with ever increasing concentrations

Greenhouse gases	1765	1990	2005	2011	2015
CO _{2 (ppm)}	280	354	380	392	400
CH _{4 (ppb)}	730	1720	1770	1800	1840
CFC-11 (ppt)	0.0	258.45	250.56	238.11	232.23
CFC-12 (ppt)	0.0	485.20	542.80	529.57	519.73
N ₂ O _(ppt)	270.47	308.07	319.10	324.32	328.11

 Table 1
 Summary of major greenhouse gases (1765–2015)

The values of CFC-11, CFC-12 and N₂O are average of concentrations at Northern and Southern hemispheres. Cowie (2013); Leung et al. 2014; Bullister 2015. *ppt* parts per trillian, *ppm* parts per million. http://cdiac.ornl.gov/ftp/oceans/CFC_ATM_Hist/CFC_ATM_Hist_2015/NDP_095(2015). pdf

of CO_2 due to burning of fossil fuels. The following table illustrates the periodic increase of CO_2 concentration in the atmosphere (Table 1).

Since the Industrial Revolution the Earth has encountered various cycles of warmth although the warmness is not directly proportional to the increase of greenhouse gases but the fact is that the warming of the Earth has taken place. Today we know that with less concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere the Earth cools and there is ice age; when the Earth was cool and the atmosphere carbon dioxide concentration was less.

Methane and CO_2 are part of global carbon cycle and nitrous oxide forms part of nitrogen cycle and all the three gases have natural and human origin. Nitrous oxide is released by the decomposition of organic matter by tropical forests, soils and oceans. Organic matter burning and fertilizers are among the anthropogenic activities that contribute towards N₂O in the atmosphere. Removal of N₂O from atmosphere is carried out by a process known as photosynthesis in the presence of sunlight which results into the release of N₂ and O₂.

Another important greenhouse gas that has not captured a lot of attention so far is water vapor. It is a powerful greenhouse gas and is playing a significant role in global warming. Atmosphere has sufficient concentrations of water vapors which absorb the infra-red radiations from the Sun. These water vapors are present everywhere in the atmosphere, even over the Sahara Desert however; the concentration is not constant throughout the atmospheric column (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 2015; Cowie 2013). These vapors absorb radiation and cause rise in temperature. In a warmer world there will be more evaporation from the surface of the Oceans, hence will contribute more water vapors that will double the warming.

5 Global Warming Potential of Greenhouse Gases

Each greenhouse gas has different physico-chemical properties and has different warming potential to the atmosphere. Their properties are quantified for global warming potential (GWP) which is defined as a "comparative index for unit mass of a gas measured against the warming potential of a unit mass of carbon dioxide over

a specific period of time". Since all greenhouse gases have different atmospheric residence time so GWP must be expressed in certain time period otherwise this will make no sense. If we take the example of methane, whose atmospheric residence time is 12 years and a quarter after 2 years which means that average life time of a molecule of methane would be 12 year². On the other hand N₂O has an average residence time of over 100 years. If we compare the GWP of N₂O and CH₄ over a decade will give different warming value. It means GWP of the greenhouse gas will vary with the nature of the gas and the time of residence. Even the GWPs determined by IPCC vary in their different reports. There are several other agents that also contribute to the global warming, among these chloroflorocarbons (CFCs), hydrochloroflorocarbons (HCFCs) and hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) are well known. Human made chemicals have low atmospheric concentrations and their contribution is less than a quarter of present warming (Cowie 2013).

6 Non-Greenhouse Influences of Climate

There are several non-greenhouse aspects which play role although not a major one in the climate changes. Milankovitch variation and changing sun light-reflecting properties of ice caps explain these processes. Although there is a clear understanding among the climate community that man-made addition of greenhouse gases are the main contributors towards the climate change yet non-greenhouse factors cannot be ignored altogether. One of these is solar output which has played a key role for billions of years on the Earth. The Sun being a main star in this sequence is getting warmer over a period of billions of years and has imparted considerable implications on the biosphere. However for a shorter time period of hundreds to thousands of years it is relatively stable. Even shorter time scale of the Sun has impact on the climate. This impact is not very significant and only causes a variation of 0.08% in the irradiance which may have the potential to change global climate by 0.02-0.04 °C (Foukal et al. 2004).

Cowie (2013) has reported that the scientists have been taking space-born measurements of solar output and have been correlating it with sun sport activity since 1978. The process is not clear but the interaction exists. The solar component is another term which is five times in magnitude as compared to the solar variation reflected by sun sport activity. Moreover there exists a correlation between solar output and global temperature but it is not clear that this relationship is real or partial.

It can be concluded that there are several factors impacting the climate positively and/or negatively. Out of these factors some are strong and some are weak; for example greenhouse gases are strong factor and the variations in the sun's output over a thousand of years are weak factors. However their superimposition may help trigger larger changes in the concentrations of methane and CO_2 as the Earth moves between inter glacial and glacial modes. Therefore it must not be surprising to note that greenhouse gases are not the sole source of global warming. There are other non-greenhouse factors such as solar output, volcanic eruption, oceanic and atmospheric circulations and marine release of methane. Although these factors contribute towards the global warming yet they are not the main contributors. At the same time these cannot be neglected and they may be contributing to global warming in future especially the circulation changes.

7 Global Warming and Impacts on Future

The response of natural system and species to climate change is an intricate process, moreover certainly become a bit more complex. Some responses are quite opposite to the expectations. One thing is common and that is the fact that our planet is warming up. The data presented by different researchers (Cowie 2013; National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 2015; Hakeem 2015) shows that the temperature of the North of the northern hemisphere increased between 1601 and 1974, however in late 20th century the temperature returned to normal. The reason could be increased snowfall which could had delayed the snow melting and onset of spring greening. This change is not unexpected as already discussed that warmer planet would increase ocean evaporation and increased precipitation will occur in the form of rain or snow. Another reason could be other environmental factors which have impacted the growth of plants as species respond to a number of factors which may act positively or negatively. One of the most suitable examples to late 20th century warming is the Alaskan white Spruce (Picea glauca). Current warming has increased thermal growing period at high latitudes. During the year there are days when plants can grow and increase the primary biological activity and CO₂ sequestration is increased by photosynthesis; consequently water consumption is increased.

8 Soil Carbon Sequestration

The term carbon sequestration implies the ways and means through which atmospheric carbon is transferred into the long lived pools and storing it safely in a way that it may not be reemitted into the atmosphere. It means increase in Soil Organic Carbon (SOC) and soil inorganic carbon (SIC) through judicious practices and better management and use of land. The observed rates of SOC in the ecosystems depend on various factors which include soil texture, soil profile properties, and climate (Armstrong et al. 2003; Grace et al. 1995; West and Post 2002). Prolonged and sustainable management practices can sustain the rates of carbon sequestered over a period of time (Grace et al. 1995; West and Post 2002). All the systems which ensure the enhanced addition of biomass to the soil, cause minimum soil degradation, conserve soil and water, improve soil structure, enhance microbial activity and species diversity and enhance soil fertility contribute towards the SOC sequestration. Mulching, zero tillage, agroforestry, multiple cropping systems and integrated nutrient management in the form of manures, composts, and bio-solids also fall in the same category (Silver et al. 2000). The restorations of degraded soil with intact resilience capacity have more potential of SOC sequestration. The SIC sequestration is low and is accelerated by different biogenic processes and leaching of carbonates into ground water (Nordt et al. 2000; Levy 1984) especially in the soils irrigated with water having low concentrations of carbonates.

9 Impact of Global Warming on Carbon Sequestration

About 5% of global carbon is stored by soils and vegetation and their contribution of carbon to the atmosphere is about 50% (Barraclough et al. 2015). Their response to the climate is not clear yet. It is expected that the processes (loss by respiration and gain by plants residues) contributing towards the soil carbon concentration will accelerate with increase in temperature (Smith et al. 2008). Bond-Lamberty and Thomson (2010) have confirmed an increase in soil respiration over time with the increase in air temperature. The most important and a bit less certain is that these two opposing processes will show changed behavior under warm climate. If the losses of soil carbon increase through respiration more quickly as compared to carbon returns through plant debris, a positive feedback can be drawn on impact of climate change on carbon sequestration (Barraclough et al. 2015). The determination and calculation of changes in soil carbon pool over a period of time can provide an undeniable proof on the balance between gains and losses.

Determining small changes against a longer and different background is challenging because the separation of effects caused by land-use from those caused by climate change are very difficult. A major study that let the scientists to link these changes was conducted by National Soil Inventory of England and Wales (NSI) who have reported large decrease in soil carbon during periods between 1978–1983 and 1995–2005 (Bellamy et al. 2005). However Emmet et al. (2010) reported that the changes suggested by NSI study were unrelated to climate change and even other studies have reported no significant changes in soil carbon over times (Tomlinson and Milne 2006; Barraclough et al. 2015).

An alternative method to study the soil carbon concentration over time was adopted by Fantappie et al. (2011) in which they used 'space-for-time substitution' in which changes in carbon across climatic gradients at one time were used to predict carbon under a future climate. Similar models were used by Barraclough et al. (2015) in a combined form to derive regression models between soil carbon concentrations and mean annual temperature and rainfall for each of the 11 land uses reported by Bellamy et al. (2005). They also concluded that their findings were not consistent with Bellamy et al. (2005) altogether. The reported changes were more related with the changes in land-use and reduction in carbon returns from grazing animals. They estimated that only 9-22% changes can be attributed to climate and indirect temperature related mechanisms could be responsible for these changes.

10 Carbon Sequestration and Sustainability

The world agriculture and degraded soil have 50-66% sink capacity of carbon loss. Soil management, rainfall, farming systems, soil structure, texture, and temperature are the properties on which soil organic carbon sequestration depends (Lal 2004; Hakeem et al. 2014). The strategies recommended by scientists to increase soil carbon pool include zero tillage, cover crops, soil restoration, reforestation, manuring, soil fertility management, sludge application, water conservation, improved grazing, judicious harvesting and efficient irrigation. An additional yield of crops (up to 20%) can be achieved by adding one ton of carbon to soil carbon pool. It will enhance food security and will offset the fossil fuel emission by 0.4-1.2 giga tons (Gt) of carbon per year which is equivalent to 5-15% of the global fossil fuel emission (Sartaj et al. 2016).

The atmospheric and biotic carbon pools are 3.3 times and 4.5 times less than the soil organic carbon (SOC) pool. The SOC exists in the form of dynamic equilibrium between gains and losses. The conversion of SOC from organic to inorganic pool causes severe depletion in the soil. The depletion increases with increased degradation of soil. This depletion enhances when the output of carbon exceeds the input. Some soils have lost as much as 20-80% of their carbon to the atmosphere. The decrease in SOC may degrade soil quality, productivity, soil ecology and water quality. The emission of the carbon to atmosphere increased with the passage of time and this was 270 ± 30 Gt from fossil fuels and 136 ± 55 Gt from terrestrial ecosystem between 1850 and 1998 (Lal 2004).

11 Soil Carbon Sequestration and Climate Change

The estimates of total carbon sequestration capacity of soil are variable, the range starts from 0.4 to 0.6 Gt C per year (Sauerbeck 2001) and ends at 0.6–1.2 Gt C per year (Lal 2003a, b) and the potential is finite in time and capacity. Until the alleviation of the fossil fuels take effect the C sequestration has bought us time (Sartaj et al. 2016). Some of the main issues related with carbon sequestration in agricultural ecosystem are discussed.

11.1 Agricultural Chemicals

Most of the practices used in agriculture involve C-based inputs. It takes 0.86 kg C kg⁻¹ N, 0.17 kg C kg⁻¹ P₂O₅, 0.12 kg C kg⁻¹ K₂O, 0.36 kg C kg⁻¹ lime, 4.7 kg C kg⁻¹ of herbicides, 5.2 kg C kg⁻¹ of fungicides, 4.9 kg C kg⁻¹ of insecticides (Lal 2004) and 150 kg C ha⁻¹ for pumping. Similarly, for enhancing use efficiency and mineralizing losses, the wise use of C-based inputs is necessary, nevertheless, the inputs are

needed for carbon sequestration but they are mandatory for food production and ensuring sustainability of soil and water.

11.2 Essential Nutrients

Carbon is one of the major essential nutrients and plants cannot complete their life cycle without it (Lal 2004). For the sequestration of 1 Gt of carbon in the soil it would require 80 Mt of N, 20 Mt of P and 15 Mt of K as compared to global fertilizer use which was 136 Mt in 2000 (IFDC 2000). However, there are other sources of carbon sequestration i.e. biological nitrogen fixation, recycling from subsoil aerial decomposition, use of bio solids and crop residues. Lal (2004) has reported that one ton of cereal residue can contribute 12–20 kg of N, 1–4 kg of P, 7–30 kg of K, 4–8 kg of Ca and 2–4 kg Mg. If the residues produced are incorporated into soil (3 Gt) instead of removal for fuel and other uses, would sequester C and improve soil quality. The same crop residues may be used for obtaining biofuel [ethanol or energy (H₂)]. This residue may be used to sequester carbon for the production of biofuel which has enormous economic value.

11.3 Soil Degradation and Deposition

Most of the erosional processes (wind or water) preferentially remove SOC from the sediments and is redistributed over the landscape or re-deposited in the depression sites and aquatic ecosystems. During the processes the C may be buried but most of it is emitted into the atmosphere in the form of CO_2 through mineralization or CH_4 through methanogenesis. The intensity of buried C may vary from 0.4–0.6 Gt C per year as compared to re-emitted which is 0.8–1.2 Gt C per year (Lal 2003b). For sustainable agricultural productivity and land use, effective soil erosion control is essential.

11.4 Better Farming Practices

The annual nutrient losses in sub Saharan Africa due to low inputs is estimated to be 40 kg of NPK ha⁻¹ in cultivated land (Sanchez 2002). The effect of SOC mining is similar to that of fossil fuel combustion. Therefore, the better farm management practices must increase SOC pool and enhance fertility which would ultimately lead to increased crop yield and soil quality.

11.5 Social Aspects

For trading carbon credits, its commodification is very important. In Europe carbon trading markets were established in 2002 (Johnson and Heinen 2004). Currently, the low prices of SOC may be increased with regulations and emission caps. In the European Union countries for the concept of SOC credits to make a routine matter as a part of the solutions to mitigate climate change the ability exists to measure short term changes in SOC (Lal et al. 2001), but the need of the hour is to base price of soil C on off site and on site societal benefits otherwise the undervaluing of soil C may lead to tragedy of the commons (Lal 2004).

11.6 Water and Carbon Cycle

Resources of fresh renewable water are decreasing very rapidly. The data shows 56% increase in cereal production between 1997 and 2050 on ever shrinking land area with less available water (Lal 2004; Rosegrant and Cline 2003). Thus it is very important to develop a link between hydrologic and carbon cycles. This may be achieved by conservation of water resources, improving agronomic yield of the crop and carbon sequestration. The stocks of SOC in rain-fed region can be increased by water conservation, increasing water use efficiency, judicious water harvesting and farming systems. In dry land SOC stocks may be enhanced by zero tillage farming to manage drought: a real win-win situation (Lal et al. 2004).

11.7 Global Warming and Soil Carbon Sequestration

Global warming is a global issue and century-scale problem and soil C sequestration is a separate but related issue having its own benefits of improving water quality, increasing soil productivity, restoring ecosystems and degraded soils. Keeping fossil fuel emission on aside achievable SOC potential provides multiple societal benefits. Moreover, soil carbon sequestration plays a bridging role among three global issues i.e. climate change, desertification and biodiversity.

11.8 Greenhouse Gases

Soil capacity to oxidise CH_4 is increased by enhancing SOC pools. This is a special case under zero tillage farming system (Six et al. 2002). It may enhance emission of N₂O (Smith et al. 2001). These fluxes of CH_4 and N₂O can alter the CO_2 mitigation potential of soil management practices and must be taken care of along with SOC sequestration.

11.9 Tropical Soils

Tropical soils are severely degraded and depleted and have high carbon sink capacity and low rate of carbon sequestration. Since these soils have low crop yields so they need more attention for improvement of soil quality than the soils of high latitude. This improvement is more challenging because of poorly developed infra structures weak institutions and resource-poor agricultural systems. Such lands needs soil restorative policies for the mitigation of soil degrading trends.

11.10 Permanence

Soil carbon sequestration is environment friendly, cost effective, natural process and sequestered carbon remains in soils until recommended management practices like zero till farming and restorative land use are followed. The soil sink capacity and the permanence are related to many physical factors like clay content, mineralogy, temperature regimes, structural stability and ability to form and retain stable micro aggregates.

12 Food Security and Soil Carbon Sequestration

China, Central and South Asia, the Andrian region, the Caribbean and the acidic savannahs of South America (SSA) are the hot spots of global soil degradation and priority area for soil restoration and carbon sequestration. In these regions complete crop residue removal for fuel and fodder is a general norm and depletion of SOC pools from the root vicinity has affected soil productivity very badly. This is simply the revengeful attitude of the poor farmers that they have passed on their sufferings to the soil. They cultivate marginally fit soils with limited resources and get marginal output and live in poverty. The SOC is a source of soil fertility and production in the farming systems of SSA whose contribution is only 2.5% of the chemical fertilizers consumed and 2% of the world's arable and irrigated land area. Both of these factors are essential for SOC sequestration. In extremely degraded soils the benefit of recommended management practices cannot be realized in true spirit. An optimum concentration of SOC stock in the soil is needed to decrease the risks of erosion, hold water and nutrients improve tilth and soil structure and be a source of energy for living microorganism in the soil. The SOC acts as a bio-membrane that filters pollutants, provides oxygen in the coastal ecosystems, decreases sediments load in the rivers, degrades contaminants and plays significant role as a sink for atmospheric CO_2 and CH_4 The crop productivity increases by addition of fertilizers along with incorporation of crop residues in SSA (Pieri 1986) in the form of mulch (Yamoah et al. 2002).

Even in high-input commercial crops, increase in SOC may enhance crop yield (Bauer and Black 1994) especially in severely degraded soils (Johnston 1986) where it has been depleted. It is reported that an increase of 1 ton of SOC in cereal wheat, yields by 27 kg ha⁻¹ in America (Bauer and Black 1994) and by 40 kg ha⁻¹ in semi-arid parts of Argentina (Diaz-Zorita et al. 2002), 17 kg ha⁻¹ of maize in Thailand (Petchawee and Chaitep 1995) 6 kg ha⁻¹ of wheat and 3 kg ha⁻¹ of maize in alluvial soils of northern India (Kanchikerimath and Singh 2001). For sustainable high yield, high SOC is necessary which improves nutrient and water use efficiency and microbial activity in the soil. For tropical soils the critical value of SOC is 1.1 % (Aune and Lal 1997) and increasing its concentration from a low level of 0.1–0.2% to the critical value is a major challenge for tropical ecosystems. Nevertheless, a sharp decline in the SOC stock in SSA or anywhere in the world must be revised in order to ensure advance food security. In Kenya, a study was carried out for 18 years, the results revealed that the yield of maize and bean was 1.4 ton ha⁻¹ per year in the control (without external inputs) and 6 tons ha⁻¹ per year was recorded when stover was retained in the soil and fertilizer and manures were applied. The SOC pool recorded in the same field up to 15 cm depth were 2.3-6 tons ha⁻¹ and 28.7 tons ha⁻¹, respectively (Kapkiyai et al. 1999). This sort of management is needed at global level to ensure food security. It is need of the hour that vicious circle of decreasing productivity, declining SOC pools and lower per hectare yield must be broken by improving soil health through SOC sequestration. This will help to free humanity from perpetuating poverty, hunger, substandard living and malnutrition.

13 Climate Change and Biodiversity

These days the researchers have focused their research on the predictions of responses of biodiversity to climate change (Dawson et al. 2011; McMahon et al. 2011; Beaumont et al. 2011; Salamin et al. 2010; Pereira et al. 2010; Bellard et al. 2012; Hakeem 2015). The response of biodiversity to climate change plays significant role in planning and alteration of the thinking of scientists to stop the biological changes due to climate change and decrease the climate change impacts on biodiversity (Parmesan et al. 2011). Currently the research suggests that there is relatively little evidence of the extinctions of species due to the impact of climate change over the next few decades (Leadley et al. 2010). However, to get the clear picture of future of the biodiversity is difficult because of the variability and the multiplicity of approaches. Therefore, it is extremely needed to review our present understanding of the effects of climate change on the future of biodiversity.

14 Impact of Climate Change on Biodiversity

Bellard et al. (2012) and Parmesan (2006) have reviewed that various components of climate change could affect the biodiversity. Climate change can decrease genetic diversity of populations due to quick migration and directional selection which may in turn impact changes in ecosystem resilience and functioning (Botkin et al. 2007; Meyers and Bull 2002). However, the focus of recent research is on organizational levels and only a little work has been done on the genetic effects of climate change and a very few number of species have been explored.

Beyond this, the web of interactions at community level is modified by various effects on population (Gilman et al. 2010; Walther 2010). In fact the species affected by climate change also affect the other species which rely on them. A study carried out in 2004 on interspecific systems of pollinators and parasites showed that 6300 species are facing the threat of extinctions because of the extinction of those species on which these species depend (Koh et al. 2004). Furthermore, for many species the initial impact of climate change may be attributed through effects on synchrony with species, habitat and food requirements (Kiers et al. 2010). The climate change has induced phonological shifts in pollinating insects and flowering plants which have caused a mismatch between pollinators and plant populations (Rafferty and Rafferty and Ives 2010). Other changes of interspecific relationships like with predator prey, parasites/host or competitors or mutualists have also changed the functioning of ecosystems and structure of community (Yang and Rudolf 2010).

Climate change may induce variation in plant communities at the higher degrees of biodiversity which are expected to affect biome integrity. It has been forecasted by the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MES) that 5–20% shifts for Earth's terrestrial ecosystems will take place, in particular in the cool conifer forests, savannahs and boreal forests, tundra and shrub land (Sala et al. 2005). Special concerns have been raised for the 'tipping points' where irreversible shifts in biomass may take place in the ecosystems thresholds (Bellard et al. 2012).

Lapola et al. (2009)) have reported that the potential future biomes distribution in tropical regions of South America may change and tropical savannah may replace Amazonian rainforests. Similarly alpine and boreal forests at higher altitudes and latitudes may expand northwards towards more height at the expense of low stature alpine and tundra (Alo and Wang 2008). Rise in temperature and decrease in rainfall may case drying of lakes in Africa (Campbell et al. 2009). Oceans may become more acidic and warm which may destroy tropical coral reefs at large scale (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). The impact of climate change could be more severe for genetic and specific diversity for ecosystem in services, whose extreme form of decrease of fitness may be extinction of species. To cope with these adverse effects the biodiversity may adopt various mechanisms.

15 Response of Biodiversity to Climate Change

Because of climate change in a given region species may no longer be adapted to the environmental conditions and may fall outside of their climate niche. For survival of the species, populations or individuals must develop adaptive measures of various types which may be provided by two categories i.e. mechanisms and responses (Bellard et al. 2012).

15.1 Mechanisms

There are two mechanisms i.e. genetic and plastic. In genetic mechanisms species may adapt genetically to changing environment by mutation or selection and in plastic mechanisms species are provided with short term responses in behavior, whether or not the species will be able to adopt the mechanisms to cope with changing climate (Lavergne et al. 2010). Whether the adaptations will be motivated by micro-evolution (genetic adoption) or plasticity (short term response) as described by Salamin et al. (2010) and Charmantier et al. (2008). These adaptive means may involve transpacific diversity in physiological, morphological or behavioral traits which may have expression on various time scales within the spatial range of population (Botkin et al. 2007; Chevin et al. 2010). As reported in birds and mammals, the empirical evidence shows that plastic response is more than the genetic contribution (Hoffman and Sgro 2011). On the other side the evolution is very fast (Lavergne et al. 2010) in the case of introduced species and the phenotypic changes have increased the invasive potential (Phillips 2009). Recent work on evolutionary rescue also suggests that rapid evolution by mutation and selection could help species to adopt very severe and rapid environmental changes (Bell and Gonzales 2009).

15.2 Responses

There are three types of responses i.e. spatial, temporal and self. The first two are easily observed and well reputed responses to climate change and self-corresponds to changes which are less obvious physiological and behavioral responses which enable species to adapt to environmental changes in the same space and time paradigms.

In spatial responses species follow specific conditions that they track during adapting period. They generally take place through dispersion however, are not limited to this. Migration to different habitats at micro-habitat or local level can also take place. More than 1000 species have been reported to undergo latitudinal and altitudinal range shifts. This is more common in the case of species with greater

dispersal capacities like insects, marine invertebrates and birds (Parmesan 2006) which has lend to the decrease range especially on mountain top and polar species (Ferero-Medina et al. 2010). In this case individuals may shift populations to maintain equilibrium in the environment they are adapted to, at the same time they may not be adapted to the other abiotic conditions such as novel biotic interactions or photoperiod (Visser 2008) in such cases micro-evolution or genetic mechanism may be required for persistence.

The individual species also respond to a climate change through shifts in time period on seasonal or daily basis. These are cyclic variations which take place over a period of time during one year. The best example in this case is temperature that varies on daily or yearly basis. The 20th century global warming has caused changes in the seasons of flowering, fruiting in plants and seasonal migration in birds (Parmesan 2006; Charmantier et al. 2008). The data shows that for last 50 years the phenological events in a wide range of species have been shifted to 5.1 days earlier per decade (Parmesan 2006). These variations help those species to maintain synchrony with changing abiotic factors. However, there could be some disruption due to increased asynchrony in insect-plant or predator prey system which could be a cause of species extinction. The third response of the species to climate change could be by adapting themselves to new conditions and do not track new optional environment in space and time. Unlike spatial, temporal changes are known in situ changes since they take place within the species. These may be in the form of physiological alterations that lead to environmental adaptations or changes in behavior of their food, energy and activity. Such changes are not very obvious like changes in time and space and have been reported during the 20th century climate change. For example in many ecosystems changes in growth, locomotion, reproduction and sex determination are temperature sensitive (Tewksbury et al. 2008). This is not true in all the cases like for many plastic phenotypic traits, in extreme climate change should reach a physiological limit. For instance metabolic rate and body size cannot increase or decrease indefinitely under prolonged climate change (Chevin et al. 2010). For such cases, to cope with climate change, strong genotypic selection is required because their spatial and temporal frames does not change hence limit the alterations of interspecific relationship.

Failure of species in any of the mechanisms or responses will lead their population to face extinction on local or global scale. Since there are so many responses for species to adapt to the climate change, therefore only a few taxa of them went extinct due to climate change during past century (Botkin et al. 2007). This is enough to dilute the temper catastrophic predictions about the possible effect of climate change on biodiversity. However, many populations responded inadequately to counter the quickly changing climate, moreover unlike the past the populations of living organisms have to manage to cope with additional threatening factors which may affect them, in synergy with climate change. Since today the world is facing undeniable facts of biodiversity crisis, the number of endangered species has been increasing with time. Some of the facts are narrated below:

16 Climate Change Impact on Agriculture

Agriculture is an important sector of world's economy. It provides as much of our food through crops, livestock and sea food. Its contribution towards economy is in trillion dollars. Livestock, agriculture and fisheries are dependent on specific temperature. It is very difficult to understand the overall impact of climate change on food supply. Increase in CO_2 and temperature can affect some crops positively in some cases, however, its effects on soil health, nutritional level and water availability may also be considered (EPA 2015). Rainfall frequency, floods and droughts could pose serious challenges for the farming communities. At the same time hot weather temperature may alter the habitats ranges and productivity of many fish and shell fish species and could destroy ecosystems. If seen holistically, changes in climate could create more problems for growing crops, raising animals and fish in places as was done in the past. The effects of climate change must be considered along with other allied factors which may affect agricultural practices and technology (Hakeem 2015).

Crop growth in the world has significant effects on the food supply of the world populations especially in US. According to an estimate about 30% of the wheat, corn and rice produced in US are exported in the global market (US Census Bureau 2011). Variations in the CO_2 concentrations, temperature and rainfall could affect the yield of these crops adversely. For example hot/warm weather may cause quick growth of crops and could reduce yield because the crops grow faster under warmer temperature, however, the time required for grain development would be decreased and yields would be low (USGCRP 2009).

17 Impact of Climate Change on Fisheries

Fish, across the world face many types of stresses which include water pollution, over fishing, heating of oceans. Climate change is worsening these changes and could lead to significant impacts. For instance the range of many fish species may change as several species of fish has particular range of temperature at which they can survive. One of the examples is cod fish found in the North Atlantic thrives best at temperature below 54 °F (EPA 2015). And their reproduction is even reduced when sea bottom temperature is above 47 °F. During the current century this temperature is expected to increase both thresholds. Several marine species are expected to move to colder areas lakes and streams or move to North world in the ocean which may lead to a new competition with new species over food and resources. In warm water some disease may affect the species more than in cold water because in warm water these are more prevalent, as in case of lobsters in New England. Similarly, variation in temperature and season could affect the migration and reproduction periods (CCSP 2008a, b). Many aspects of aquatic life are controlled by seasons for example the warm water in North West has affected the life cycles of

salmon and it has become more vulnerable to disease (CCSP 2008a, b), which has caused a large decline in salmon population (Field et al. 2007).

In addition, the increase in CO_2 concentration is causing the acidification of oceans which are affecting shell fish by weakening shells made up of calcium. The acidity may destroy the structures of fish and shell fish ecosystem upon which they rely.

18 Influence of Climate Change on Crop Productivity

For the last several decades, the trends of climate changes in the world's agricultural zones have been very quick and obvious changes in the CO_2 and ozone (O_3) concentrations have been recorded. The actual changes that will occur due to rise in CO_2 concentrations and their influence on climate have raised questions about the security of food. One of them is whether the overall productivity of world's crops will be affected or not. It is estimated that for the next few decades, the global crop yields will increase by 1.8% due to increase in CO_2 trends (Lobell and Gourdgi 2012) and rise in temperature will decrease yield by 1.5% per decade. The main factors that will contribute towards this decline include higher O_3 and greater precipitation.

The global food security will be shaped by many factors which include rate of human population, disease, dietary preferences, income growth and distribution, demand for water and land resources for non-agricultural uses, carbon sequestration and rate of improvements in agricultural productivity. The crop yield factor has a special significance which is define as metric tons of grains produced per hectare of land. Sources of agricultural growth including level of funding for research and development, variation in soil fertility and quality, economics and supply of fertilizers, CO_2 and O_3 concentrations in atmosphere and changes in rainfall and temperature are of multi-faced nature. This information focusses on variations in CO_2 and O_3 levels in agricultural regions and their impacts on crops production. This will give us insight on the part of a full story on crop production which will lead us to full story about the future of global food security. For instance this information has no clues about different ways that global change can affect world's food security via different pathways other than agricultural productivity i.e. rate of income growth or influences on human disease occurrences.

19 Climate Changing Trends in the World's Cropping Areas

The data on observed trends, over the past several decades show that air temperature has been increasing in the major cereal cropping areas in the world. Lobell and Gourdji (2012) have reported linear trends in minimum and maximum temperature from 1980 to 2011. Roughly the average trends for maximum and minimum temperature were $0.3 \,^{\circ}$ C and $0.2 \,^{\circ}$ C per decade respectively.

 CO_2 concentration in the atmosphere has increased from 278 µL L⁻¹ in 1750 to 390 µL L⁻¹ in 2000 (Global Carbon Project 2011). Increase in global average troposphere O₃ level is from 15 nL L⁻¹ to 35 nL L⁻¹ from preindustrial era to the present. Ever increasing pollution can raise this concentration to 100 nL L⁻¹ (Wilkinson et al. 2012) which could be damaging to the crops (Oltmans et al. 2006). Solar dimming has also been observed from 1950 to 1980 which is associated with increased pollution and aerosol load (Wild 2012).

The projected trends show that the major factor of global warming will be rise in temperature in the agricultural regions. The data shows average model projected rates of global warming from 2040 to 2060 will be similar to those observed from 1950 to 1980 (Lobell and Gourdji 2012) per decade. However there is no concrete evidence to establish whether minimum temperature will rise faster or slower than maximum temperature (Lobell et al. 2007).

This shows that expected rate of global warming is consistent with the past which may be significantly lower or higher for any one or two decades such as global mean temperature (the average of ocean and land) does not rise for one decade due to 1998 El Naino. Unlikely it is quite possible that we could record 10 years trend of as high as 1 °C in the global mean temperature which will be as much as 2 °C in major agriculture areas of the world because the ocean warms slowly than the land (Easterling and Wehner 2009).

 CO_2 concentration is expected to increase in next century because 80% reduction in its emission is required just to stabilize the current atmospheric levels (Meehl et al. 2007). Up to 2050, 25 µL L⁻¹ increases in CO_2 concentration per decade is expected which will raise the overall level to 500 nL L⁻¹ by that time (IPCC 2001). In developing countries O_3 precursors emission is expected to raise however, its prediction is difficult due to uncertainty in emission pathways and air pollution control (Cape 2008).

20 Response of Crops to Climate Change

There are primary mechanisms which have effects on agriculture among these are: increasing temperature, severe hydrological cycles, increasing CO_2 concentration in the atmosphere and increase of tropospheric O_3 levels. The mechanisms through which these factors affect crop physiology are discussed below.

Yield of crops is affected by temperature through five ways. First, it enhances growth and development and reduces crop duration, which ultimately leads to reduction in yield (Stone 2001). Second, rates of photosynthesis, respiration and grain filling are affected by temperature without any distinction of C4 or C3 plants (Crafts-Brandner and Salvucci 2002). High temperature during day or night can affect photosynthesis, however, warming during the night increases rate of respiration at the cost of any benefit to photosynthesis. Third, temperature raises the vapor pressure deficit (VPD) between air and leaf, which leads to reduced water use efficiency in the form of more water loss per unit of carbon gain (Ray et al. 2002) and

plants close their stomata, reducing photosynthesis and increasing heat related impacts. Fourth, high temperature can damage plant cells directly, reduces spring and autumn frost risk which would lead to frost-free growing season. Contrary to this warming during the critical reproductive periods may induce heat stress, leading to sterility, reduction in yields and risk of crop failure (Teixeira et al. 2013). Fifth, high temperature along with elevated CO_2 in the atmosphere can favor the growth and survival of many pests, insects and diseases in agricultural crops (Ziska et al. 2011).

Increased agricultural droughts will cause water stress in crops which will be harmful especially during the reproductive periods of cereal crops (Hatfield et al. 2011). Alterations in the timing of the rainy season may compel the farmers to shift sowing times or more intense rains will result into flooding and water logging and damage crop production (Lobell and Gourdji 2012). Unlike temperature increase in atmosphere CO_2 levels has some positive effects on crops like fertilization effect of CO_2 in C_3 crops by alleviating photosynthesis pathways. It also increases water use efficiency by decreasing stomatal conductance in C3 and C4 plants (Ainsworth and Long 2005). Fifteen percent increase in yields in C3 plants is expected by raised CO_2 concentration. However, it is also expected that CO_2 fertilization will decrease nutritional quality of crops through decreased nitrate assimilation and lower protein content in harvestable yield (Taub et al. 2008).

Tropospheric O_3 is formed when air pollutants like methane, carbon monoxide and nitrogen oxides react with hydroxyl radicals and causes oxidative damage to photosynthetic machinery in the plants (Wilkinson et al. 2012). These pollutants are found in abundance in the agricultural regions across the globe (Van Dingenen et al. 2009). There are possibilities of interactive effect of CO_2 and O_3 which may reduce the damage caused by O_3 through reduced stomatal conductance. It will reduce damage caused by O_3 uptake by maintaining biomass production (McKee et al. 2000). This has raised a concern about the development of new crop varieties in cereals such as increased stomatal conductance has been induced by breeders to support the fact that higher respiration fluxes are related to increased photosynthetic rate and ultimately to yield (Reynolds et al. 1994) whereas higher stomatal conductance means more uptake of O_3 and vulnerability to sterility and reduced yield (Biswas et al. 2008).

The facts discussed here are not always conclusive because they may vary from region to region and cannot be applied across the world to estimate the response of crop production to changing global climate.

21 Climate Change and Future Strategies for Agricultural Crops Production

With the same or less available land and water resources, 56% increase in cereal production is estimated by 2050 to feed the population (Lobell et al. 2012). Natural calamities like devastating rains and droughts are predicted to increase (Beddington

et al. 2012; Hakeem 2015). Warming trends are expected to decrease global yield of agricultural crops by 1.5% per decade.

The scientists have been working to revitalize sustainable increase in yield with fewer resources and several frameworks like ecological intensification, evergreen revolution and sustainable intensification have been suggested in the past (Cassman 1999a, b; Swaminathan 2000; Fan et al. 2012). Here a question arises that how can we achieve the objective of increased yield while having several constraints (land and water availability, climate change and environmental degradation).

For this, emphasis must be given to the challenge of applying good governance in modification of suboptimal crop and soil management with the prevailing knowledge of agricultural technologies and introducing advances in crop productivity. Two strategies will help to achieve these goals i) management of integrated cropsoil system which will deal with the existing limitations in the crop cultivars ii) development of new high yielding cultivars which may utilizes less water and nutrients and are more resistant to stresses like drought, pest attack, disease, waterlogging etc. (Fan et al. 2012).

22 Judicious Use and Improvement of Existing Resources and Technologies

Due to CO_2 fertilization the crop yield has increased over the past so many years however, the degradation of existing land and water resources and non-judicious crop management practices are very common. The available evidence shows that there is a huge gap between the total crop potential yield and the average farm yield at the farmers field (Fan et al. 2012). There are several factors which are responsible for this which include no to limited access to technologies, marketing problems and low profitability and poor crop and soil management (Fan et al. 2009). Across the globe, several cost effective and easy to use technologies have been developed and their use at the farmers scale must be emphasized, which can increase yield of grains by 9.2-14.6% and can improve nitrogen productivity by 10.5-18.5%. Split use of nitrogen, and changes in transplanting patterns have enhanced yield of rice up to 22% in China (Fan et al. 2009). Similarly, water saving practices like alternate wetting and drying, irrigation for rice can increase rice yield (Davies et al. 2010). Other techniques for example mulching, deficit watering for upland crops and alternate furrow irrigation in maize have also been reported to increase yield (Yang and Zhang et al. 2010; Wang et al. 2009b). Decrease in emission of greenhouse gases can be achieved by adopting nitrogen management practices i.e. N₂O and CO₂ (Huang and Tang 2010).

For the adoption of new technologies, it must be ensured that all farmers have access and purchasing power; for this purpose economic incentives can play important role. Farming subsidies may be beneficial to motivate farmers to adopt new technologies and suitable management practices.

23 Innovations in Crop Production

For ensuring food security greater improvement and innovation in crop production must be carried out by developing a multidisciplinary approach including the joint ventures of plant scientists, soil scientist, agronomists, social scientist, agroecologists, plant breeders and microbiologists. This approach will help to understand coupling mechanisms that exist between climate and crops, soil and plant ecology and plant biology and various rhizospheric components and their management (Yang and Zhang 2010). For this purpose three points must be emphasized i) integration of soil fertility and nutrients management with intensive cultivation systems ii) utilization of different nutrient resources must be integrated with supply to the crop needs iii) take all possible measures to maintain soil fertility and quality (Zhang et al. 2011).

Genetic improvement in the crop cultivars with improved yield potential through conventional and genetic engineering will be critical for future food security (Foulkes et al. 2010). Yield potential has been defined as the yield of a crop under optimum growing conditions (Evans 1996). When crop reaches to 80% of its potential it becomes very difficult to improve it on sustainable basis through conventional practices. It suggests that at this stage the improvement of a crop will depend on the improvement of yield potential. Here we need to breed cultivars which have high yield potential, or resource efficient and resistant to biotic and abiotic stresses (Morison et al. 2008). Conventional breeding techniques must be combined with advanced breeding methods such as genetic engineering and marker based selection. This will help more specific selection of required germplasm among multiple traits and breeding cycle will be fast. This technology will help to achieve the challenge of identification of the suitable genes needed for breeding, their incorporation in to elite genotypes and evaluation in the field trials, adopting new genetically modified crops and increasing consumer's acceptance (Zhang et al. 2007).

References

- Ainsworth EA, Long SP (2005) What have we learned from 15 years of free air CO₂ enrichment (FACE)? A meta-analytic review of the responses of photosynthesis, canopy properties and plant production to rising CO₂. New Phytol 165:351–371
- Alo CA, Wang GL (2008) Potential future changes of the terrestrial ecosystem based on climate projections by eight general circulation models. J Geophy Res Biogeosci 113:16
- Armstrong RD, Millar G, Halpin NV, Reid DJ, Standley J (2003) Using zero tillage, fertilizers and legume rotations to maintain productivity and soil fertility in opportunity cropping systems on a shallow Vertosol. Aust J Exp Agric 43:141–153
- Aune JA, Lal R (1997) Agricultural productivity in the tropics and critical limits of properties of oxisols, ultisols, and alfisols. Trop Agric 74:96–103
- Barraclough D, Smith P, Worrall F, Black HIJ, Bhogal A (2015) Is there an impact of climate change on soil carbon contents in England and Wales? Eur J Soil Sci 66:451–462

- Bauer A, Black AL (1994) Quantification of the effect of soil organic matter content on soil productivity. Soil Sci Soc Am J 58:185–193
- Beaumont LJ, Pitman A, Perkins S, Zimmermann NE, Yoccoz NG, Thuiller W (2011) Impacts of climate change on the world's most exceptional eco-regions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:2306–2311
- Beddington JR, Asaduzzaman M, Clark ME, Fernández Bremauntz A, Guillou MD, Howlett DJB, Jahn MM, Lin E, Mamo T, Negra C, Nobre CA, Scholes RJ, Van Bo N, Wakhungu J (2012) What next for agriculture after Durban? Science 335:289–290
- Bell G, Gonzalez A (2009) Evolutionary rescue can prevent extinction following environmental change. Ecol Lett 12:942–948
- Bellamy PH, Loveland PJ, Bradley RI, Lark RM, Kirk GJD (2005) Carbon losses from all soils across England and Wales 1978–2003. Nature 437:245–248
- Bellard C, Bertelsmeier C, Leadley P, Thuiller W, Courchamp F (2012) Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. Ecol Lett 15:365–377
- Biswas DK, Xu H, Li YG, Sun JZ, Wang XZ, Han XG, Jiang GM (2008) Genotypic differences in leaf biochemical, physiological and growth responses to ozone in 20 winter wheat cultivars released over the past. Glob Change Biol 14:46–59
- Bond-Lamberty B, Thomson A (2010) Temperature-associated increases in the global soil respiration record. Nature 464:579–582
- Botkin DB, Saxe H, Araujo MB, Betts R, Bradshaw RHW, Cedhagen T, Chesson P, Dawson TP, Etterson JR, Faith DR, Ferrier S, Guisan A, Hansen AS, Hilbert DW, Loehle C, Margules C, New M, Sobel MJ, Stockwell DRB (2007) Forecasting the effects of global warming on biodiversity. Bioscience 57:227–236
- Bullister JL (2015) Atmospheric histories (1765–2015) for CFC-11, CFC-12, CFC-113, CCl4, SF6 and N₂O. US department of energy. Available from: http://cdiac.ornl.gov/ftp/oceans/CFC_ ATM_Hist/CFC_ATM_Hist_2015/NDP_095(2015).pdf. 20 Sept 2015
- Campbell A, Kapos V, Scharlemann JPW, Bubb P, Chenery A, Coad L, Dickson B, Doswald N, Khan MSI, Kershaw F, Rashid M (2009) Review of the literature on the links between biodiversity and climate change: impacts, adaptation and mitigation. In: Diversity SotCoB (ed) CBD technical series n°42. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal, p 124
- Cape JN (2008) Surface ozone concentrations and ecosystem health: past trends and a guide to future projections. Sci Total Environ 400:257–269
- Cassman K (1999a) Ecological intensification of cereal production systems: yield potential, soil quality, and precision agriculture. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:5952–5959
- Cassman K (1999b) Ecological intensification of cereal production systems: yield potential, soil quality, and precision agriculture. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:5952–5959
- CCSP (2008a) Analyses of the effects of global change on human health and welfare and human systems. A report by the U.S. climate change science program and the subcommittee on global change research. In: Gamble JL (eds) Ebi KL, Sussman FG, Wilbanks TJ (authors) U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC
- CCSP (2008b) Preliminary review of adaptation options for climate-sensitive ecosystems and resources. A report by the U.S. climate change science program and the subcommittee on global change research. Julius SH, West JS (eds) Baron JS, Griffith B, Joyce LA, Kareiva P, Keller BD, Palmer MA, Peterson CH, Scott JM (authors). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC
- Charmantier A, McCleery RH, Cole LR, Perrins C, Kruuk LEB, Sheldon BC (2008) Adaptive phenotypic plasticity in response to climate change in a wild bird population. Science 320:800–803
- Chevin LM, Lande R, Mace GM (2010) Adaptation, plasticity and extinction in a changing environment: towards a predictive theory. PLoS Biol 8:e1000357
- Cowie J (2013) Climate change: biological and human aspects. 2nd edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 4–256

- Crafts-Brandner SJ, Salvucci ME (2002) Sensitivity of photosynthesis in a C4 plant, maize, to heat stress. Plant Physiol 129:1773–1780
- Davies WJ, Zhang J, Yang J, Dodd IC (2010) Novel crop science to improve yield and resource use efficiency in water-limited agriculture. J Agric Sci 149:123–131
- Dawson TP, Jackson ST, House JI, Prentice IC, Mace GM (2011) Beyond predictions: biodiversity conservation in a changing climate. Science 332:53–58
- Diaz-Zorita MN, Duarte GA, Grove JH (2002) A review of no-till systems and soil management for sustainable crop production in the sub-humid and semiarid Pampas of Argentina. Soil Tillage Res 65:1–18
- Easterling DR, Wehner MF (2009) Is the climate warming or cooling? Geophys Res Lett L08706
- Emmet BA, Reynolds B, Chamberlain PM, Rowe E, Spurgeon D, Brittain SA, Frogbrook Z, Hughes S, Lawlor AJ, Poskitt J, Potter E, Robinson DA, Scott A, Wood C, Woods C (2010) Countryside survey: soils report from 2007. Technical report no 9/07, NERC/Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, Wallingford
- EPA (2015) Climate impacts on agriculture and food supply. Available from: http://www.epa.gov/ climatechange/impacts/agriculture.html. 15 Sept 2015
- Evans L (1996) Crop evolution, adaptation and yield. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Fan M, Lu S, Jiang R, Liu X, Zhang F (2009) Triangular transplanting pattern and split nitrogen fertilizer application increase rice yield and nitrogen fertilizer recovery. Agron J 101:1421–1425
- Fan M, Shen J, Yuan L, Jiang R, Chen X, Davies WJ, Zhang F (2012) Improving crop productivity and resource use efficiency to ensure food security and environmental quality in China. J Exp Bot 63:13–24
- Fantappie M, L'Abate G, Costanini EAC (2011) The influence of climate change on the soil organic carbon content in Italy from 1961 to 2008. Geomorphol 135:343–352
- Field CB, Mortsch LD, Brklacich M, Forbes DL, Kovacs P, Patz JA, Running SW, Scott MJ (2007) North America. In: Climate change. 2007: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Contribution of working group II to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. In: Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE (eds) Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Forero-Medina G, Joppa L, Pimm SL (2010) Constraints to species elevational range shifts as climate changes. Conserv Biol 25:163–171
- Foukal P, North G, Wigley T (2004) A stellar view on solar variations and climate. Science 306:68–69
- Foulkes MJ, Slafer GA, Davies WJ, Berry PM, Sylvester- Bradley R, Martre P, Calderini DF, Reynolds MP (2010) Raising yield potential in wheat: optimizing partitioning to grain yield while maintaining lodging resistance. J Exp Bot 62:469–486
- Gilman SE, Urban MC, Tewksbury J, Gilchrist GW, Holt RD (2010) A framework for community interactions under climate change. Trend Ecol Evol 25:325–331
- Global Carbon Project (2011) Carbon budget and trends 2010. Available from: http://www.globalcarbonproject.org/carbonbudget. Sept 12 2015
- Grace PR, Oades JM, Keith H, Hancock TW (1995) Trends in wheat yields and soil organic carbon in the permanent rotation trial at the waite agricultural research institute, South Australia. Aust J Exp Agric 35:857–864
- Hakeem KR (2015) Crop production and global environmental issues. Springer International Publishing AG, Cham, p 598
- Hakeem KR, Sabir M, Ozturk M, Mermut A (2014) Soil remediation and plants: prospects and challenges. Academic/Elsevier, New York, p 724
- Hatfield JL, Boote KJ, Kimball BA, Ziska LH, Izaurralde RC, Ort D, Thomson AM, Wolfe D (2011) Climate impacts on agriculture: implications for crop production. Agron J 103:351–370
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, Gomez E, Harvell CD, Sale PF, Edwards AJ, Caldeira K, Knowlton N, Eakin CM, Iglesias-Prieto R, Muthiga N, Bradbury

RH, Dubi A, Hatziolos ME (2007) Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. Science 318:1737–1742

Hoffman AA, Sgro CM (2011) Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. Nature 470:479-485

- Huang Y, Tang Y (2010) An estimate of greenhouse gas (N₂O and CO₂) mitigation potential under various scenarios of nitrogen use efficiency in Chinese croplands. Glob Change Biol 16:2958–2970
- Hulme M (2009) On the origin of 'the greenhouse effect': John Tyndall's 1859 interrogation of nature. Weather 64:121–123
- IFDC (2000) International fertilizer development Centre. World fertilizer consumption, Muscle Shoals
- IPCC (2001) Climate change 2001: the scientific basis. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Johnson E, Heinen R (2004) Carbon trading: time for industry involvement. Environ Intl 30:279-288
- Johnston AE (1986) Soil organic matter, effects on soils and crops. Soil Use Manag 2:97-105
- Kanchikerimath M, Singh D (2001) Soil organic matter and biological properties after 26 years of maize–wheat–cowpea cropping as affected by manure and fertilization in a Cambisol in semiarid region of India. Agri Ecosys Environ 86:155–162
- Kapkiyai JJ, Karanja NK, Qureshi JN, Smithson PC, Woomer PL (1999) Soil organic matter and nutrient dynamics in a Kenyan nitisol under long-term fertilizer and organic input management. Soil Biol Biochem 31:1773–1782
- Kiers ET, Palmer TM, Ives AR, Bruno JF, Bronstein JL (2010) Mutualisms in a changing world: an evolutionary perspective. Ecol Lett 13:1459–1474
- Koh LP, Dunn RR, Sodhi NS, Colwell RK, Proctor HC, Smith VS (2004) Species co-extinctions and the biodiversity crisis. Science 305:1632–1634
- Lal R (2003a) Global potential of soil carbon sequestration to mitigate the greenhouse effect. Crit Rev Plant Sci 22:151–184
- Lal R (2003b) Soil erosion and the global carbon budget. Environ Intl 29:437-450
- Lal R (2004) Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. Science 304:1623–1627
- Lal R, Kimble JM, Follett RF (2001) Methodological challenges toward balance soil C pools and fluxes. In: Lal R, Kimble JM, Follett RF, Stewart BA (eds) Assessment methods for soil carbon. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton
- Lapola DM, Oyama MD, Nobre CA (2009) Exploring the range of climate biome projections for tropical South America: the role of CO₂ fertilization and seasonality. Global Biogeochem Cy 23:1–16
- Lavergne S, Mouquet N, Thuiller W, Ronce O (2010) Biodiversity and climate change: integrating evolutionary and ecological responses of species and communities. Ann Rev Ecol Evol Syst 41:321–350
- Leadley P, Pereira HM, Alkemade R, Fernandez-Manjarres JF, Proenca V, Scharlemann JPW, Walpole MJ (2010) Biodiversity scenarios: projections of 21st century change in biodiversity and associated ecosystem services. In: Secretariat of the convention on biological diversity (ed. Diversity SotCoB). Technical series no. 50. Published by the Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal, pp 1–132
- Leung DYC, Caramanna G, Maroto-Valer M (2014) An overview of current status of carbon dioxide capture and storage technologies. Renew Sust Rev 39:426–443
- Levy R (ed) (1984) Chemistry of irrigated soils. Van Nostrand-Reinhold, New York, pp 182-229
- Lobell DB, Gourdji SM (2012) The influence of climate change on global crop productivity. Plant Physiol 160:1686–1697
- Lobell DB, Bonfils C, Duffy PB (2007) Climate change uncertainty for daily minimum and maximum temperatures: a model inter-comparison. Geophys Res Lett 34:L05715

- McKee IF, Mulholland BJ, Craigon J, Black CR, Long SP (2000) Elevated concentrations of atmospheric CO₂ protect against and compensate for O₃ damage to photosynthetic tissues of fieldgrown wheat. New Phytol 146:427–435
- McMahon SM, Harrison SP, Armbruster WS, Patrick BPJ, Beale CM, Edwards ME, Kattge J, Midgley G, Morin X, Prentice IC (2011) Improving assessment and modelling of climate change impacts on global terrestrial biodiversity. Trend Ecol Evol 26:249–259
- Meehl GA, Stocker TF, Collins WD, Friedlingstein P, Gaye AT, Gregory JM, Kitoh A, Knutti R, Murphy JM, Noda A, Raper SCB, Watterson IG, Weaver AJ, Zhao ZC (2007) Global climate projections. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller HL (eds) Climate change 2007: the physical science basis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 747–845
- Meyers LA, Bull JJ (2002) Fighting change with change: adaptive variation in an uncertain world. Trend Ecol Evol 17:551–557
- Morison JIL, Baker NR, Mullineaux PM, Davies WJ (2008) Improving water use in crop production. Philos Trans R Soc Spec Issue Sust Agric 363:639–658
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (2015) Climate monitoring, greenhouse gases. Available from: https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/monitoring references/faq/greenhouse-gases.php. 15 Sept 2015
- Nordt LC, Wilding LP, Drees LR (2000) Pedogenic carbonate transformation in leaching soil sysems: implications for the global C cycle. In: Lal R, Kimble JM, Eswaran H, Stewart BA (eds) Global climate change and pedogenic carbonate. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, pp 43–64
- Oltmans SJ, Lefohn AS, Harris JM, Galbally I, Scheel HE, Bodeker G, Brunke E, Claude H, Tarasick D, Johnson BJ, Simmonds P, Shadwick D, Anlauf K, Hayden K, Schmidlin F, Fujimoto T, Akagi K, Meyer C, Nichol S, Davies J, Redondas A, Cuevas E (2006) Long-term changes in tropospheric ozone. Atm Environ 40:3156–3173
- Parmesan C (2006) Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. Ecol Evol 37:637–669
- Parmesan C, Duarte CM, Poloczanska E, Richardson AJ, Singer MC (2011) Overstretching attribution. Nat Clim Change 1:2–4
- Pereira HM, Leadley PW, Proenca V, Alkemade R, Scharlemann JPW, Fernandez-Manjarres JF, Araújo MB (2010) Scenarios for global biodiversity in the 21st century. Science 330:1496–1501
- Petchawee S, Chaitep W (1995) Organic matter management for sustainable agriculture. In: LeFroy RDB, Blaci GJ, Craswell ET (eds) Organic matter management in upland systems in Thailand. ICIAR, Canberra, pp 21–26
- Phillips BL (2009) The evolution of growth rates on an expanding range edge. Biol Lett 5:802–804
- Pieri C (1986) Fertilisation des cultures vivrie'res et fertilite' des sols en agriculture paysanne subsaharienne. Agronomie Tropicale 41:1–20
- Rafferty NE, Ives AR (2010) Effects of experimental shifts in flowering phenology on plant–pollinator interactions. Ecol Lett 14:69–74
- Ray JD, Gesch RW, Sinclair TR, Hartwell AL (2002) The effect of vapor pressure deficit on maize transpiration response to a drying soil. Plant Soil 239:113–121
- Reynolds MP, Balota M, Delgado M, Amani I, Fischer RA (1994) Physiological and morphological traits associated with spring wheat yield under hot, irrigated conditions. Aust J Plant Physiol 21:717–730
- Rosegrant MW, Cline SA (2003) Global food security: challenges and policies. Science 302:1917–1919
- Sala OE, Detlef van Vuuren D, Pereira HM, Lodge D, Alder J, Cumming G, Dobson A, Wolters V, Xenopoulos MA (2005) Chapter 10: biodiversity across scenarios. In: Ecosystems and human well-being, vol. 2: scenarios. Island Press, Washington, DC, pp 375–408
- Salamin N, Wüest RO, Lavergne S, Thuiller W, Pearman PB (2010) Assessing rapid evolution in a changing environment. Tren Ecol Evol 25:692–698

Sanchez PA (2002) Soil fertility and hunger in Africa. Science 295:2019–2020

- Sartaj AW, Sofi MN, Chand S, Hakeem KR (2016) Soil carbon sequestration: as a climate change adaptation and mitigation strategy An overview. Int J Plant Anim Environ Sci 6(1):227–232
- Sauerbeck DR (2001) CO₂ emissions and C sequestration by agriculture perspectives and limitations. Nutr Cycl Agroecosys 60:253–266
- Silver WL, Ostertag R, Lugo AE (2000) The potential for carbon sequestration through reforestation of abandoned tropical agricultural and pasture lands. Restor Ecol 8:394–407
- Six J, Feller C, Denef K, Ogle S, Moraes JC, Albrecht A (2002) Soil organic matter, biota and aggregation in temperate and tropical soils effects of no-tillage. Agronomie 22:755–775
- Smith P, Goulding K, Smith K, Powlson D, Smith J, Falloon P, Coleman K (2001) Enhancing the carbon sink in European agricultural soils: including trace gas fluxes in estimates of carbon mitigation potential. Nutr Cycl Agroecosys 60:237–252
- Smith P, Fang C, Dawson JJC, Moncreiff JB (2008) Impact of global warming on soil carbon. Adv Agron 97:1–43
- Stone P (2001) The effects of heat stress on cereal yield and quality. In: Basra AS (ed) Crop responses and adaptations to temperature stress. Food Products Press, Binghamton, pp 243–291
- Swaminathan M (2000) An evergreen revolution. Biol Inst Biol 47:85-89
- Taub DR, Miller B, Allen H (2008) Effects of elevated CO₂ on the protein concentration of food crops: a meta-analysis. Glob Change Biol 14:565–575
- Teixeira EI, Fischer G, van Velthuizen H, Walter C, Ewert F (2013) Global hot-spots of heat stress on agricultural crops due to climate change. Agri Forest Meteor 170:206–215
- Tewksbury JJ, Huey RB, Deutsch CA (2008) Ecology putting the heat on tropical animals. Science 320:1296–1297
- Tomlinson RW, Milne RM (2006) Soil carbon stocks and land cover in Northern Ireland from 1939 to 2000. Appl Geogr 26:18–39
- Tyndall J (1861) On the absorption and radiation of heat by gases and vapours. Philos Mag $22{:}169{-}285$
- U.S. Census Bureau (2011) The 2011 statistical abstract: international statistics. U.S. Census Bureau, Washington, DC USA http://www.census.gov/library/publications/2010/compendia/ statab/130ed.html
- USGCRP (2009) Global climate change impacts in the United States. In: Karl TR, Melillo JM, Peterson TC (eds) United States global change research program. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Van Dingenen R, Raes F, Krol MC, Emberson L, Cofala J (2009) The global impact of O_3 on agricultural crop yields under current and future air quality legislation. Atmos Environ 43:604-618
- Visser ME (2008) Keeping up with a warming world; assessing the rate of adaptation to climate change. Proc R Soc B-Biol Sci 275:649–659
- Walther GR (2010) Community and ecosystem responses to recent climate change. Phil Trans Soc B-Biol Sci 365:2019–2024
- Wang Y, Xie Z, Malhi S, Vera C, Wang J (2009) Effects of rainfall harvesting and mulching technologies on water use efficiency and crop yield in the semi-arid Loess Plateau, China. Agric Water Manag 96:374–382
- West TO, Post WM (2002) Soil organic carbon sequestration rates by tillage and crop rotation: a global data analysis. Soil Sci Soc Amer J 66:1930–1940
- Wild M (2012) Enlightening global dimming and brightening. Bull Am Meteorol Soc 93:27-37
- Wilkinson S, Mills G, Illidge R, Davies WJ (2012) How is ozone pollution reducing our food supply? J Exp Bot 63:527–536
- Yamoah CF, Bationo A, Shapiro B, Koala S (2002) Trend and stability analyses of millet yields treated with fertilizer and crop residues in the Sahel. Field Crops Res 75:53–62
- Yang LH, Rudolf VHW (2010) Phenology, ontogeny and the effects of climate change on the timing of species interactions. Ecol Lett 13:1–10

- Yang J, Zhang J (2010) Crop management techniques to enhance harvest index in rice. J Exp Bot 61:3177–3189
- Zhang F, Cui Z, Wang J, Li C, Chen X (2007) Current status of soil and plant nutrient management in China and improvement strategies. Chinese Bull Bot 24:687–694
- Zhang F, Shen J, Zhang J, Zuo Y, Li L, Chen X (2010) Rhizosphere processes and management for improving nutrient use efficiency and crop productivity: implications for China. Adv Agron 107:1–32
- Zhang F, Cui Z, Fan M, Zhang W, Chen X, Jiang R (2011) Integrated soil–crop systems management: reducing environmental risk while increasing crop productivity and improving nutrient use efficiency in China. J Environ Qual 40:1051–1057
- Ziska LH, Blumenthal DM, Runion GB, Hunt ER, Diaz-Soltero H (2011) Invasive species and climate change: an agronomic perspective. Climatic Change 105:13–42